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Two Developing Trends in Criminal Tax



• Two developing trends in criminal tax that 
historically have not seen very much use:
• Sec. 7202, Willful failure to collect, truthfully 

account for and pay over employment taxes (a 
5-year felony). 

• 18 USC sec. 371 “conspiracy to defraud” 
frequently called a “Klein-type conspiracy” (also 
a five-year felony). 
• Used against professionals associated with “tax 

shelters” 
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These problem areas (employment tax 
deficiencies, tax shelter promotions) have 
traditionally been EXCLUSIVELY the subject of 
civil enforcement. 
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Today, examinations traditionally presumed to 
be “civil” in nature are breeding grounds for 
bad surprises! 
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Traditional “civil” IRS examinations/investigations: 
• In the case of payroll tax deficiencies, potentially 

resulting in the “trust fund recovery tax” and 
collection actions, i.e., levies, foreclosures. 

6



Traditional “civil” IRS examinations/investigations:
• In the case of tax shelters, “promoter penalty 

investigations”, potentially resulting in large civil 
penalties and injunctions, i.e., secs. 6700, 6701 and 
7408. 
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Criminal cases in these two areas invariably 
arise from civil investigations, i.e., “routine” civil 
payroll tax investigations or civil “promoter 
penalty” investigations. 
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The historical non-use of criminal sanctions in 
connection with employment taxes and tax 
shelters means that a criminal investigation 
comes as a huge shock to the defendants (and 
their counsel). 
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“Cooperation” with the investigating civil agents 
can prove to be self-incriminating. 
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Uncollected payroll taxes are a 
HUGE problem.

• As of December 2015, 1.4 million 
employers owed approximately $45.6 billion 
in unpaid employment taxes, interest, and 
penalties.

Source: Report of the Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration, March 21, 2017 
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• “Employment tax noncompliance occurs for many 
reasons. 

• “Sometimes, employers experiencing economic strain 
‘borrow the money for a short while’ to use the 
withheld taxes to fund the employer’s operations. 

• Other employers willfully divert the withheld taxes 
for their own personal benefit.” 

Source: Report of the Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration, March 21, 2017 
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While a business owner may consider 
delinquent employment taxes to be an 
undocumented “loan” from the government, 
the government considers it to be theft. 
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The Traditional Civil Remedy:

Internal Revenue Code § 6672 provides that 
any person required to collect, account for, 
and pay over taxes who willfully fails to 
perform any of these activities can be 
assessed a Trust Fund Recovery Penalty 
(TFRP). 
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The TFRP may be assessed against any person 
who: 

• Is responsible for collecting or paying withheld 
income and employment taxes; and 

• Willfully fails to collect or pay them. 

Source: IRC, § 6672 15



But…..

“In virtually every case, the IRS does not 
pursue criminal prosecution and instead relies 
on collection and penalty assessment 
authority to encourage compliance.”

Source: Report of the Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration, 
March 21, 2017 
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In former times, what little criminal enforcement there 
was with respect to payroll taxes was limited to Sec. 7215.

§ 7215 - Offenses with respect to collected taxes

(a)PENALTY

Any person who fails to comply with any provision of section 
7512(b) shall, in addition to any other penalties provided by law, be 
guilty of a misdemeanor, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be 
fined not more than $5,000, or imprisoned not more than one year, 
or both, together with the costs of prosecution.

(b)EXCEPTIONS.  This section shall not apply—

(1) to any person, if such person shows that there was reasonable 
doubt as to (A) whether the law required collection of tax, or (B) 
who was required by law to collect tax, and

(2) to any person, if such person shows that the failure to comply 
with the provisions of section 7512(b) was due to circumstances 
beyond his control.
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Criminal proceedings under §
7215 involve a two-step process.
• It applies only to a person who “fails to comply with any 

provision of § 7512.”  

• § 7512 provides that if the IRS serves a delinquent taxpayer 
with a written notice “delivered in hand”, the taxpayer must 
deposit all payroll taxes that are due within two banking 
days after payroll is made into a special trust account. 

• If the taxpayer ignores and fails to abide by the warning in 
the § 7512 notice, THEN (and only then) is he subject to 
prosecution under § 7215. 

• NOTE that § 7215 does not include the word, “willful”, i.e., it is a strict liability statute.

• ALSO NOTE that § 7215 is a misdemeanor offense, meaning that the maximum term of imprisonment is 
one year per count. 18



As part of the civil payroll tax delinquency 
investigation routine, taxpayers are given a copy 
of IRS letter 903.

The old version of this letter described the 
§ 7215 process, leading taxpayers to believe 
that they would first be served with a notice 
requiring prompt deposit of payroll taxes before 
any criminal procedure would be instituted. 
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Old Version of Letter 903
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In 2013, the IRS altered the form of its Letter 
903 to remove references to § 7215 and instead, 
to emphasize the possibility of prosecution 
under § 7202.
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New Version of Letter 903

22



In 2014, the DOJ’s Criminal Tax Manual was 
amended by inserting the following notice in the 
portion of that document dealing with 
prosecutions under § 7215:

“Notice: § 7512, which makes it a misdemeanor to 
fail to comply with § 7512(b) is obsolete, because the 
IRS no longer issues notices under § 7212(b) 
requiring the use of special deposit procedures for 
collected employment taxes.”
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The Federal Sentencing Guidelines “Commentary”
pertaining to Section 7202 (§2T1.6) formerly 
contained the following observation:

“Background:  The § 7202 offense is a felony 
that is infrequently prosecuted.” 
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And then…

• In Nov. 2016, the Federal Sentencing Guidelines’ 
reference to § 7202 being “infrequently 
prosecuted” was removed.

• The 2016 Guidelines do not provide a basis for 
this change (the former reference to 
“infrequent prosecution” was simply removed).

• Some say that this amendment was because 
some lawyers used the “infrequency of 
prosecution” language to urge courts to give 
more lenient sentences; but a better reason is 
because as a matter of fact, prosecutions under 
§ 7202 are no longer “infrequent”. 
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DOJ is well aware of the substantial similiarity between the 
traditional civil remedy, § 6672 and its criminal counterpart, § 7202.

“Under section 6672, the civil counterpart to section 7202, a 
voluntary, conscious, and intentional act of paying the claims of 
other creditors … constitutes a "willful" violation of the duty to pay 
over. . . .  Similarly, it is the Tax Division's position that a person 
willfully fails to pay over tax under section 7202 when, instead of 
paying the trust fund taxes, he voluntarily and intentionally uses the 
money to pay the claims of other creditors.”  

Department of Justice, Tax Division, 
Criminal Tax Manual:

26



DOJ is also well aware of the potential interplay between the 
civil and criminal functions:  

“Prosecutors should ascertain whether an IRS Form 2751, 
Proposed Assessment of Trust Fund Recovery Penalty, or an 
IRS Form 4180, “Report of Interview with Individual Relative to 
Trust Fund Recovery Penalty or Personal Liability for Excise 
Taxes,” was completed during the civil administrative part of 
the case, because these documents may contain relevant 
admissions or statements by the defendant.” 

Department of Justice, Tax Division, 
Criminal Tax Manual:
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Form 4180
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Form 4180















Affirmative answers to these questions mean that 
your client is “responsible”.
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Form 4180

Honest answers to these questions are likely to show 
that your client is “willful”. 
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Form 4180

Space for signing the “confession”. 
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Sec. 6672 - Failure to collect and pay over tax, or attempt to 
evade or defeat tax.

1. Any person required to collect, truthfully account for, 
and pay over any tax imposed by this title who

2. willfully

3. fails to collect such tax, or truthfully account for and pay 
over such tax, or willfully attempts in any manner to 
evade or defeat any such tax or the payment thereof, 
shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be 
liable to a penalty equal to the total amount of the tax 
evaded, or not collected, or not accounted for and paid 
over. 

Comparison of § 6672 to § 7202
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Sec. 7202 - Willful failure to collect or pay over tax.

1. Any person required under this title to collect, account 
for, and pay over any tax imposed by this title who 

2. willfully

3. fails to collect or truthfully account for and pay over such 
tax shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be 
guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be 
fined not more than $10,000, or imprisoned not more 
than 5 years, or both, together with the costs of 
prosecution.

Comparison of § 6672 to § 7202
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So….what’s the difference between a 
routine delinquent payroll tax case and 
a § 7202 criminal proceeding? 



According to the government, 
only one thing: Burden of Proof

In § 6672 cases, the IRS’ assessment is 
presumed correct; and the taxpayer has 
the burden of proof of rebutting it by a 
preponderance of evidence.

In § 7202 cases – as in all criminal cases –
the government has the burden to prove 
all elements of the crime beyond a 
reasonable doubt.  
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“It all depends on your point of view.”
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Takeaways
The similarities 

between 
Section 7202 
and its civil 
counterpart 
Section 6672

The government’s 
new attitude 

towards 
aggressive use of 

Section 7202 
prosecutions

There is no 
longer any 

such thing as a 
“routine” 
payroll tax 

investigation.  

+ =
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Takeaways
• Every payroll tax 

delinquency 
situation - at least 
in any situation 
where the facts 
would arguably 
justify imposition 
of the TFRP -- is a 
potential Section 
7202 prosecution. 
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Takeaways

• Very carefully consider the potential down-
side of allowing the client to be interviewed 
or to fill out the TFRP questionnaire, Form 
4180.

39



Takeaways

• In view of the developing trends in this area, 
there is probably a valid Fifth Amendment 
privilege against providing any information at 
all to the IRS.
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Second  Developing Trend:

IRS’ use of the general conspiracy statute 
against promoters of tax shelters. 
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While 18 USC §371 makes it a crime to 
conspire to commit any substantive crime 
against the United States, § 371 also makes it 
a crime to conspire “to defraud the United 
States”. 

18 USC § 371
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18 U.S. Code § 371 - Conspiracy to commit offense or 
to defraud United States.

• If two or more persons conspire either [1] to 
commit any offense against the United States, or 
[2] to defraud the United States, or any agency 
thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one 
or more of such persons do any act to effect the 
object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under 
this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or 
both.

18 USC § 371
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• “To defraud the United States” (within the meaning 
of § 371) does NOT imply the stealing of money or 
something else of value by deceitful means (which 
is what most people would think “defraud” means).  

• For purposes of § 371, the courts have said that 
“defraud” means:

“To interfere with or obstruct a lawful governmental 
function by deceit, craft or trickery, or at least by 
means that are dishonest.” 

18 USC § 371

44



• A “conspiracy to defraud the United States” is commonly 
known as a “Klein-type conspiracy”.

• (It is named after U.S v. Klein, 139 F.Supp. 135, 141 (SDNY 
1955), aff’d 247 F2d 908 (2d. Cir. 1957), cert. denied 355 
U.S. 924 (1958)  (a criminal case based upon a fact pattern 
that you would recognize as a §482 inter-company pricing 
issue.)

• The conspiracy to defraud the IRS was described as an 
“attempt to throw sand in the government’s eyes”, 139 
F.Supp. at 141.

18 USC § 371
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• The use of “Klein-type conspiracy” to combat 
fraud perpetrated by the taxpayers 
themselves not a new thing.

• Klein-type conspiracy charges, either alone 
or in combination with substantive tax-fraud 
counts, have not been uncommon.
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For example:

United States v. Klein was a tax fraud case 
from the 50’s involving unreported profits 
from imported whisky.
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For example:

United States v. Fruehauf Corporation, 577 
F.2d 1038 (6th Cir. 1978) was a Klein-type 
conspiracy case involving unreported federal 
excise taxes on the sale of trailers.
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For example:

The income tax fraud charges against former 
Tax Court Judge Dianne Kroupa included Klein-
type conspiracy where personal expenses were 
disguised as deductible business expenses.
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For example:

The indictment against former campaign chair 
Paul Manafort that was unsealed on October 30, 
2017, includes a Klein-type conspiracy count 
based upon his use of multiple foreign entities 
and disguising of income as non-taxable loans.
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What is NEW is the use of Klein charges against 
lawyers and CPAs -- who are not themselves 
“the taxpayer” – who have structured “tax 
shelters” held to be lacking in economic 
substance.
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• The official DOJ position regarding Klein-type 
conspiracies, as contained in briefs and arguments 
at the appellate level, is:
• Everyone has a duty to conduct their business affairs in 

such a manner that the IRS is not impeded or impaired 
in its collection of the revenue.

• If whatever you are doing is intended  to impede or 
impair the IRS, then it is a crime.

• INTENTIONALLY STRUCTURING A TRANSACTION TO 
MAKE IT MORE DIFFICULT FOR THE IRS TO 
CONDUCT AN AUDIT CAN BE A CRIME.
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Some courts have held that such an interpretation is too 
broad. Instead, a conspiracy to defraud requires interference 
or obstruction of a governmental function by deceit, craft or 
trickery.

• e.g.,  U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993).
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But  . . . . 

Unfortunately – particularly in the tax planning area and 
sometimes in the controversy area – some of the “craft” that 
we are trained in (and are paid for) is sometimes seen by the 
IRS precisely as “trickery”.
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In this arena, there is no such thing as “too big to jail”.

Prominent tax professionals recently charged with tax 
obstruction offenses for their role in designing “tax 
shelters”: 

• Four national partners of Ernst & Young (U.S. v. Coplan et 
al., 703 F.3d 46 (2nd Cir. 2012).

• Six national partners of KPMG and one partner of  Sidley & 
Austin (U.S. v. Pfaff, et al., 619 F.3d 172 (2nd Cir. 2010); U.S. 
v. Ruble et al., 2009 WL911035 (2nd Cir. 2009)).

• Five national partners of BDO and a senior partner of 
Jenkens & Gilchrist. United States v. Daugerdas, 837 F3d. 
212, (2d Cir. Sept. 2016). 
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More recently the promotors of a “captive 
insurance” plan were convicted of conspiracy 
to defraud the United States after trial to the 
court.  U.S. v. Crithfield et al., 2017 WL 
3412208 (M.D. Fla; July 12, 2017).
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• Contrast Crithfield with the even more 
recent (and entirely civil) opinion of the Tax 
Court regarding captive insurance 
companies.  Avrahami v. Commissioner, 149 
T.C. No. 7, 2017 WL 3610601 (August 21, 
2017).

• Just as in Crithfield,  Avrahami accepted the 
IRS’ position that “insurance premiums” 
were outrageously overpriced and were 
constructed for the sole purpose of achieving 
income tax benefits for the taxpayers.
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HOWEVER . . . . 

In Avrahami, the Tax Court declined even to 
impose civil penalties against the taxpayers.
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How can we explain the “no civil penalties” 
decision in Avrahami, as compared to the 
criminal conviction in Crithfield?
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“It all depends on your point of view.”
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Takeaways

• Quite legitimate business transactions can be complicated 
and difficult to understand. Sometimes the IRS just does not 
understand.

• To the IRS, thinking “outside the box” can mean “outside the 
law”.

• Sometimes, to the IRS, the confusion associated with a 
“normal” business transaction may seem intentional. If the 
purpose of making the transaction more complex than it 
needs to be, is in order to “obfuscate”, that can be a crime.  
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Takeaways

As you plan your strategy, you need to examine:

• Is the strategy intended to confuse or impede the IRS?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)
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Takeaways

Are those multi-step transactions intended to make it harder 
for the IRS to see the “big picture”?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)
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Takeaways

It is skill, or is it trickery?

(Remember:  The IRS 
may see it differently 
than you do.)
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Takeaways

Skill, or intentional obfuscation?

(Remember:  The IRS may see it differently than you do.)
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Takeaways

Remember: “skill” or “trickery” all depends on your 
point of view. 
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Takeaways

And that can be dangerous for people like you 
and me.  
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Attachments
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Attachment A
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Attachment A:  Keys to success in 
United States v. Beakley

1. No Form 4180:

In Beakley, the defendant controlled or managed many 
business entities, virtually all of which has payroll tax 
deficiencies.

However, the 12-count sec. 7202 indictment alleged violations 
with respect to only two entities.

The revenue officer had filed out only one Form 4180 form, 
which was duly signed by the defendant.  The revenue officer 
apparently intended the Form 4180 form to cover all 
delinquent entities, but it actually only named one entity. 
That entity was not one of the entities charged in the 
indictment.
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Attachment A:  Keys to success in 
United States v. Beakley

2. Unusual Economic and Physical Climate:

The time periods specified in the indictment covered the quarterly 
periods for 2010 and 2011.

Not only was this the time of the Great Recession (when hundreds of 
thousands of businesses failed), this time period also involved 
unusually severe winter storms in the Texas Panhandle known as 
“snow-mageddon”).  (The defendant’s primary business was 
operating Dairy Queen restaurants:  “You don’t sell many Blizzards 
during a real blizzard”.)

As a result, the defendant was faced with a moral choice:  Should I 
close all of my business (and put over 2,000 employees out of work); 
or should I continue to operate  (continuing to run up payroll tax 
deficits in the short run)  in hopes that I will eventually  be able to 
earn my way out of this mess? 71



Attachment A:  Keys to success in 
United States v. Beakley

3. Entrapment by Estoppel:

The revenue officer in Beakley acquiesced in the defendant’s keeping his  the 
businesses open and operating, even though the defendant told the collection 
officer and he knew that there was no way to pay the accruing payroll taxes.

A criminal defendant may raise a defense of entrapment by estoppel “when a 
government official or agent actively assures a defendant that certain conduct is 
legal and the defendant reasonably relies on that advice and continues or 
initiates the conduct.” United States v. Trevino–Martinez, 86 F.3d 65, 69 (5th 
Cir.1996) (internal quotations and citation omitted). 

Even though the revenue officer had no actual authority to allow the defendant 
to continue to violate the law by pyramiding payroll tax deficiencies, the IRS 
agent’s acquiescence still helped to form the defendant’s state of mind and good 
faith understanding that what he was doing did not violate the law. 
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Attachment A:  Keys to success in 
United States v. Beakley

4. Jury Charge on Willfulness:

“For a “willful” violation of a statute, the government must prove that the 
defendant acted with the knowledge that his conduct violated the law, and not 
because of mistake, accident, negligence, or other innocent reason. This element 
of the offense requires that the government prove beyond a reasonable doubt 
that the defendant actually knew that his conduct was illegal and that the 
defendant acted with the purpose and intent of violating the law. . . .

“Good faith is a complete defense to each of the charges in the indictment, 
because good faith on the part of the defendant is inconsistent with the 
requirement that he acted willfully. . . . If you have a reasonable doubt concerning 
whether the defendant acted in good faith, you must find the defendant not guilty 
of the offense charged in the count of the indictment under consideration.

“In determining whether or not the government has proved that the defendant 
acted willfully, as alleged in the indictment, or whether the defendant acted in 
good faith, you must consider all of the evidence received in the case bearing on 
the defendant’s state of mind.” 73



Attachment B
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Attachment B:  Daugerdas Summary

• The conviction of Paul Daugerdas -- formerly 
a partner in the Jenkens & Gilchrist law firm -
- was affirmed by the Second Circuit on 
September 24, 2016.  The court’s discussion 
of the basis for his conviction is sobering:
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“Daugerdas attacks the sufficiency of the government’s proof that he knowingly 
developed and sold shelters that violated the so-called economic substance rule. 
Under this rule, “sham transactions that [cannot] with reason be said to have 
purpose, substance, or utility apart from their anticipated tax consequences” 
cannot form the basis of legitimate tax losses under the Internal Revenue Code.

“For a jury to conclude that Daugerdas had the necessary mens rea to commit 
tax evasion, mail fraud, and obstruction of the IRS on the basis of violations of 
the economic substance rule, they would have to find both that he knew the 
rule and knew that the transactions lacked economic substance. Our inquiry into 
whether a transaction lacks economic substance requires us to examine “(1) 
whether the [clients] had an objectively reasonable expectation of profit, apart 
from tax benefits, from the transaction; and (2) whether the [clients] had a 
subjective non-tax business purpose in entering the transaction.”  This inquiry 
does not involve “a rigid two-step process,” but instead calls for a “flexible 
analysis where both prongs are factors to consider in the overall inquiry.” 

Attachment B:  Daugerdas Summary
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After discussing the evidence, the court concluded:

“A rational jury could thus have concluded that 
Daugerdas (1) was familiar with the economic substance 
rule and (2) knew that the transactions lacked economic 
substance because he knew that (a) [clients] had no 
objectively reasonable expectation of making a profit 
from the Swaps Shelter and (b) they did not have a 
subjective non-tax business purpose in entering the 
transaction. Therefore, the evidence was sufficient for a 
jury to find that Daugerdas was guilty of tax evasion, mail 
fraud, and obstruction of the IRS.”

Attachment B:  Daugerdas Summary
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Conclusions:

• It is dangerous to engage in tax planning where every 
step does not have a non-tax business purpose.

• It is down-right dangerous to assume or to assert 
non-tax motives that are specious. 

Attachment B:  Daugerdas Summary
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Attachment C
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Attachment C:  Hypothetical Problems 
Illustrating Potential Reach of Klein-

type Conspiracy Prosecutions
Let me be very clear: These problems are intended to stimulate your thinking about 
potential ramifications of some of the issues raised in this presentation

These problems are not intended to suggest that any of the actions described or 
suggested in these problems would necessarily (or even possibly) constitute a 
criminal act (or even an unethical act).

These problems are intended to suggest that there may be persons within the 
government who might possibly see such actions as worthy of consideration for 
criminal investigation.

In no way am I suggesting if such an investigation or prosecution were initiated, there 
would not be perfectly good defensive arguments that could be made , or that such 
defensive arguments would not (or should not) eventually prevail.

If you can read through these problems and not be bothered in the least by the 
possible implications that are presented, then you are out of touch with the times --
and I have failed to make my point.
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Attachment C:  Problem 1

A client comes to ask your advice regarding a business that he has 
been operating as a Schedule C sole proprietorship.  The business 
has never, ever operated as a profit, and the client’s practice of off-
setting the business’ losses against other income has never been 
questioned by the IRS; but he is worried that this will eventually 
happen.  The client tells you he has read some interesting statistics 
showing that a Schedule C business is almost six times as likely to be 
audited by the IRS as an S Corporation.  (Yes, this is what the IRS 
itself reports.)

So – the client asks you—wouldn’t it make sense to incorporate his 
business and elect S corporation status, for the sole purpose of 
lowering his “audit profile”?

81



Attachment C:  Problem 1 (Answer)
Judge Learned Hand, in Helvering v. Gregory, 69 F.2d 809, 810 (2nd Cir. 1934), 
aff’d, 290 U.S. 465 (1935):

Anyone may arrange his affairs that his taxes shall be as low as possible. He is not 
bound to choose the pattern which best pays the Treasury. There is not even a 
patriotic duty to increase one’s taxes. Over and over again courts have said that 
there is nothing sinister in so arranging [one’s] affairs … Everyone does it, rich and 
poor alike, and all do right, for nobody owes a public duty to pay more than the 
law demands. The IRS concedes that “any attempt to reduce, avoid, minimize or 
alleviate taxes by legitimate means is permissible.” Internal Revenue Manual 
9.1.3.3.2.1 (05-15-2008)

On the other hand, the official DOJ position, as contained in briefs and arguments 
at the appellate level, is

• Citizens have a duty not to conduct their business affairs in such a manner that 
the IRS is not impeded or impair in its collection of the revenue.

• If whatever you are doing is intended  to impede or impair the IRS, then it is a 
crime.

See, e.g., U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993). 82



Attachment C:  Problem 2

You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of 
money. The IRS has gotten aggressive in its collection activities, and 
has recently levied upon client’s bank accounts.

Knowing that the IRS most frequently becomes aware of bank 
accounts because of 1099’s sent in to the IRS reporting interest 
income, and further knowing that no such 1099’s will be forthcoming 
for at least 11 months, client asks for your advice:  Can client open a 
new bank account, in a new bank  (such account being in client’s 
correct name)?  The client’s only true motive for opening such 
account is the supposition that the IRS cannot levy upon the new 
account unless or until it becomes aware of the existence of the 
account; and in the meantime, the account  will be safe from levy.
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Attachment C:  Problem 2 (Answer)
U.S. v. McGill, 964 F.2d 222 (3rd. Cir 1992):

“…the failure of the taxpayer to report the opening of an account in his or her own 
name in his or her own locale cannot amount to an affirmative act of evasion. 
Omissions, including failures to report, do not satisfy the requirements of § 7201; 
the Government must prove a specific act to mislead or conceal. See Spies, 317 
U.S. at 499, 63 S.Ct. at 368; Romano, 938 F.2d at 1572-73 (failure to report income 
is not by itself an affirmative act of evasion…..There is no evidence that McGill 
concealed this new account from the IRS apart from the fact that he did not inform 
the IRS of its existence.”

On the other hand, the official DOJ position, as contained in briefs and arguments 
at the appellate level, is

• Citizens have a duty not to conduct their business affairs in such a manner that 
the IRS is not impeded or impair in its collection of the revenue.

• If whatever you are doing is intended to impede or impair the IRS, then it is a 
crime.

See, e.g., U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993). 84
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Attachment C:  Problem 3
You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of money. The 
IRS has gotten aggressive in its collection activities, and has recently levied 
upon client’s bank accounts.  In fact, the IRS has sent Client a notice 
indicating that a levy upon his bank account is imminent and will definitely 
occur within the next several days.

Client has a large cashier’s check in his possession that he has not yet 
deposited.  He needs to get it into a his bank account because he has some 
other creditors (other than the IRS) who are clamoring for payment

Client has research the law, and has correctly concluded that IRS levies 
upon bank accounts are not “continuing” in nature; that is to say, a levy 
upon a bank account only “traps” the funds that are in the account on the 
day the levy is served.

Client asks for your advice:  Can he just hang on to the cashier’s check and 
not deposit it until sometime after the IRS’ levy has been served?
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Attachment C:  Problem 3 (Answer)
Spill v. Comm’r, T.C. Memo. 1989-213 (1989):

“… we find that the failure to deposit checks made payable to ‘cash‘ 
in the corporate bank accounts was part of petitioners' scheme to 
divert corporate income to the corporate principals, thus avoiding 
tax at both the corporate and shareholder/employee levels.” 

Note:  This is a civil case; but if the IRS can take this position in a civil 
case, there may be some aggressive agents who would take the 
same position in a criminal case.

Anything that you do that is “outside the ordinary course of 
business” that would have an effect of misleading the IRS is 
potentially problematic.
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Attachment C:  Problem 4
You are representing a client who owes the IRS a great deal of money. This 
client is a professional athlete who has a lucrative endorsement contract 
with a sporting goods manufacturer. In the past, the IRS has served writs of 
garnishment upon the sporting goods company directing it to pay over to 
the IRS the payment that would otherwise go to Client.

Client knows that many professional athletes are represented by sports 
management firms. A good friend of Client has suggested that he (the 
friend) will set up a new corporation (Newco) to manage Client’s sports 
business.  Among other things, Newco will negotiate a new contract with 
the sporting goods company that henceforth will pay the annual 
endorsement fee to Newco.  The point of this, of course, is that a 
garnishment served upon the sporting goods company to trap monies due 
to Client will not extend to monies owed to Newco, a completely separate 
taxpayer that owes no taxes at all.

Client wants to engage you to “paper” this transaction.
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Attachment C:  Problem 4 (Answer)
U.S. v. Secor et al., 73 Fed.Appx. 554 (4th Cir. 2003):

“In order to satisfy its burden in proving a violation of § 371, “the government 
must prove that an agreed upon objective of the criminal conspiracy was to thwart 
the IRS's efforts to determine and collect income taxes.” United States v. Hairston,
46 F.3d 361, 374 (4th Cir.1995) (internal quotation omitted). “A conviction under §
371 will not stand where impeding the IRS was only a collateral effect of the 
conspiracy.” Id. Here, there is overwhelming evidence that Blanchard and Secor
conspired to thwart the IRS’s efforts to collect Blanchard's tax liability. The 
government proffered evidence that each time it attempted to levy one of 
Blanchard's bank accounts, he would open a new account in Secor's name. The 
government also demonstrated that despite Blanchard's putative penury, he and 
Secor maintained a “lavish lifestyle.” In addition, Blanchard admitted, upon cross-
examination, that the income reflected on Secor's Form 1099's from 1988 until 
2000, was income that he, not Secor, earned. This evidence, viewed in the light 
most favorable to the government, is clearly sufficient to prove that Blanchard 
violated § 371.
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Attachment C:  Problem 5
Client owns a piece of real estate.  Out of the blue, a person offered to 
purchase the land, for cash, for an amount that Client thinks is close to 
double what the land is worth.  Client has a contract signed by the buyer in 
hand, providing that the sale will close next week. Client has come to you 
for advice.

You examine the offer and have no problems at all with the offer.  The 
terms have all been agreed to. All the client has to do is to sign the 
contract.

However, you notice that as of the scheduled closing date, Client will only 
have owned the land for 11 ½ months.  Knowing that significant advantage 
of long term capital gains, you consider advising Client to make a counter-
offer, accepting all terms except for the closing date which you want to 
postpone until more than a full 12 months has run from the date of 
acquisition.
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Attachment C:  Problem 5 (Answer)
In Rev. Rul. 80-58, the IRS held that a rescission having retroactive effect may be achieved 
for federal income tax purposes by mutual agreement of the parties, even by one of the 
parties declaring a rescission of the contract without the consent of the other, if sufficient 
grounds exist, or by successfully applying to a court for a decree of rescission. Under the 
ruling, a rescission effected by mutual agreement will be respected for federal income tax 
purposes if (i) the transaction and the rescission take place in the same taxable year; (ii) the 
parties to the rescission are the original parties to the transaction; and (iii) the parties 
are restored to their status quo ante positions by the end of the same taxable year.

So this is probably not a questionable transaction, even if the transaction had actually 
closed, provided that it was re-opened (and re-closed) in the same taxable year that it had 
originally closed.

(You might well want to attach a disclosure to the tax return acknowledging what has been 
done.)

On the other hand, the official DOJ position, as contained in briefs and arguments at the 
appellate level, is

• Citizens have a duty not to conduct their business affairs in such a manner that the IRS is 
not impeded or impair in its collection of the revenue.

• If whatever you are doing is intended to impede or impair the IRS, then it is a crime.

See, e.g., U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993). 90



Attachment C:  Problem 6
Client, a very wealthy person, has come to you for estate planning.  One of 
the things that come to mind as you discuss his situation is the possibility 
of a family limited partnership (FLP).  

You are aware that there is a well-settled rule of law that a transaction will 
be deemed to have economic substance and will be respected for federal 
tax purposes only if the Taxpayer has a substantial purpose (apart from 
Federal  effects) for entering into such transaction; and that the IRS has 
invoked this principle in the context of FLPs. 

Of course you are aware of the fact that FLPs can offer considerable asset 
protection from claims of creditors; but in truth and in fact (and despite 
your prodding and prying), this Client does not really have any 
ascertainable asset-protection needs.  The only reason for considering a 
family limited partnership is to obtain a significant reduction in the estate-
tax value of the assets that will be placed into the FLP.
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Attachment C:  Problem 6 (Answer)
In Superior Trading LLC v. Commissioner, 728 F.3d 676 (7th Cir 2013, 
the Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit said:

“A genuine partnership is a business jointly owned by two or more 
persons (or firms) and created for the purpose of earning money 
through business activities. If the only aim and effect are to beat 
taxes, the partnership is disregarded for tax purposes. “[T]ax 
considerations cannot be the only reason for a partnership’s 
formation.” Southgate Master Fund, L.L.C. v. United States, supra, 
659 F.3d at 484 (emphasis in original). There must be a 
“profit‐motivated reason to operate as a partnership.” Id.  The 
absence of a nontax business purpose is fatal.’” 
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Attachment C:  Problem 7
Same facts as Problem Six; but in addition, one of 
your summer law clerks suggests that 
“hypothetical” creditor-protection concerns 
(concerns which are “possible” but are not actually 
anticipated or feared by the Client) could be 
mentioned in contemporaneous emails or memos 
and placed in the file in order to “document” non-
tax motives, in the event that the bona fides of the 
FLP is ever contested by the IRS.
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Attachment C:  Problem 7 (Answer)
From Daugerdas:

“As an essential part of the marketing of all the tax shelters, 
Daugerdas and his colleagues issued “more-likely-than-not” opinion 
letters to clients who purchased the shelters. Such letters state that 
“under current U.S. federal income tax law it is more likely than not 
that” ****The letters stated that the clients had knowledge of the 
particular transactions underlying the shelter and that the clients 
were entering into the shelter for non-tax business reasons. 

Multiple clients testified that they never made representations of 
knowledge to Daugerdas or his associates and that, in any event, 
these representations were false because the clients knew little or 
nothing about the underlying transactions and entered into the 
shelters only to reduce their tax liability.”
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Attachment C:  Problem 8
Client, a very wealthy person, has come to you for estate planning.  Client says he is 
on the verge of making a number of large (non-exempt) gifts of assets having a 
value of $20 million.  Knowing that FLPs are often used to achieve a discount from 
the value of the underlying assets in the FLP due to lack of liquidity and lack of 
control, you are inclined to suggest that instead of gifting the assets directly, Client 
should first drop the assets into a FLP, and make gifts of interests in the FLP 
instead. Through this method (you estimate), he can make effectively $20 million 
worth of gifts (based upon the value of the assets prior to formation of the FLP) for 
a taxable value of no more than about $15 million.  The result (if not challenged by 
the IRS) will be a very significant saving in gift taxes.  

Being aware of cases where similar transactions have been merged by the IRS 
together under the “step transaction” doctrine, you suggest that Client transfer the 
assets to the FLP and allow that transaction to become “old and cold” before Client 
completes the intended overall transaction by making gifts of interests in the FLP.
You suggest that dividing the two parts of the transaction into two separate taxable 
years will reduce the likelihood that the IRS (in the event of an audit) will notice  
the two parts of the transaction and thus even further reduce the likelihood of a 
gift tax assessment based upon the value of the underlying assets.
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Attachment C:  Problem 8 (Answer)
Under the step transaction doctrine, a particular step in a transaction is 
disregarded for tax purposes if the taxpayer could have achieved its objective more 
directly but instead included the step for no other purpose than to avoid tax 
liability. Long–Term Capital Holdings, LP v. United States, 150 Fed. Appx. 40, 43 (2d 
Cir. 2005).

In my opinion, there is no question but that this doctrine might be applied to this 
transaction.

Is closing the two parts of the same transaction in two separate taxable years an 
attempt to “throw sand in the IRS’ eyes”, i.e., a Klein-type conspiracy?

Remember that the official DOJ position is

• Citizens have a duty not to conduct their business affairs in such a manner that 
the IRS is not impeded or impair in its collection of the revenue.

• If whatever you are doing is intended to impede or impair the IRS, then it is a 
crime.

See, e.g., U.S v. Caldwell, 989 F 2d 1056 (9th Cir 1993).
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Attachment D
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Attachment D:  Suggested Bibliography 
re:  Klein-type conspiracy

For anyone interested in delving more deeply into the historical uses 
and potential reach of Klein-type conspiracies, I recommend the 
following (in date order):

• Sheldon M. Sisson, “The Sandman Cometh: Conspiracy 
Prosecutions and Tax Practitioners," 31 Tax Lawyer 805, Spring 
(1978)

• Scott D. Michel and Justin A. Thomas, “Tax Crimes:  Has the Bright 
Line Moved?” Law Journal Newsletters, February 2008

• John A. Townsend, “Tax Obstruction Crimes:  Is Making the IRS’ Job 
Harder Enough?” 9 Hous. Bus. & Tax L. J. (2009)
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Attachment D:  Suggested Bibliography 
re:  Klein-type conspiracy (continued)

• John A. Townsend, “Tax Obstruction Crimes:  Is Making the IRS’ Job 
Harder Enough?” 9 Hous. Bus. & Tax L. J. (2009), Online Appendix, 
(contains extensive hypothetical problems similar to those 
presented in this outline), 
http://www.hbtlj.org/v09p2/v09p2townsendapp

• Jasper L. Cummings, Jr., “Economic Substance Doctrine Felonies”, 
Tax Analysts Featured News, May 31, 2011

• Scott Schumacher, “Magnifying Deterrence by Prosecuting 
Professionals”, 89 Indiana L.J., Issue 2 (2014)

• Cha Muller, Justin A. Thornton and Mel E. Meyers, “Prosecution 
and Defense of a Klein Conspiracy”, ABA, Section of Taxation, 
Criminal Justice Section and Center for Professional Development 
(June 24, 2014) 99
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